Paper No. CB(2)906/03-04(02)

Bills Committee on
United Nations (Anti-Terrorism M easures) (Amendment) Bill 2003

Purpose

This paper addresses the issues raised by Members at the Bills
Committee meeting on 26 November 2003.

Obligation to report under sections 25A of the Drug Trafficking
(Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance and the Organized and Serious
Crimes Ordinance

2. The Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap.
405) was enacted in 1989 to strengthen Hong Kong's ability to combat
domestic and international drug trafficking by providing for the tracing,
restraining and confiscation of proceeds derived from drug trafficking
and criminalization of assisting a drug trafficker to launder his drug
proceeds. In line with these objectives and given the mode of operation
of drug traffickers, section 25 of Cap. 405 provided for disclosures of
dealings connected with drug trafficking.

3. Section 25 was modelled on section 24 of the Drug Trafficking
Offences Act of the United Kingdom (the UK Act) (copy at Annex A).
Section 24(1) of the UK Act provides that it will be an offence to deal in
drug trafficking proceeds. However, section 24(3)(b) provides that if a
person discloses to a constable his suspicion or belief that any funds or
investments are derived from or used in connection with drug trafficking,
he shall not be guilty of the offence. The objective of this provisionisto
encourage anyone who has such dealings to disclose them to an
authorized officer.

4, In 1994, the Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap 455)
was enacted to provide for increased enforcement powers against
organized and serious crimes. To deal with the laundering of proceeds
of these crimes, Cap. 455 had a provision similar to section 25 of Cap.
405.

5. To tighten up and improve the legislation to facilitate more
effective enforcement, the original section 25 of Cap. 405 was repealed
and replaced by the new sections 25 and 25A in 1995. The new section
25 creates the offence of dealing with property knowing or believing it to
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represent the proceeds of drug trafficking. The new section 25A creates
the offence of failing to disclose knowledge of or suspicion that any
property directly or indirectly represents the proceeds of drug trafficking
or is to be used in that connection. To maintain consistency and to
achieve more effective enforcement, similar amendments were made
simultaneously to the relevant confiscation and money laundering
provisions of Cap. 455.

Obligation to report under section 12 of the United Nations
(Anti-Terrorism M easures) Ordinance

6. In our paper (CB(2) 1930/01-02(03)) of 16 May 2002 responding
to the Legidative Council Assistant Legal Adviser’s letter of 2 May 2002,
we pointed out that the reporting obligation under clause 11 of the then
United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Bill 2002 (now section 12 of
the United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance) was consi stent
with the prevailing provisions regarding disclosure of suspicious
transactions relating to laundering of proceeds of drug trafficking and
other indictable offences under sections 25A of Cap. 405 and Cap. 455.

7. Paragraph 4 of United Nations Security Council Resolution
(UNSCR) 1373 aso “notes with concern the close connection between
international terrorism and transnational organized crime, illicit drugs,
money-laundering” and other organized and serious crimes, and
“emphasizes the need to enhance coordination of efforts on national,
subregional, regional and international levels in order to strengthen a
global response to this serious chalenge and threat to international
security”.

8. Singapore has adopted similar provisions with the anti-money
laundering obligation covering everyone. Section 8 of Singapore’'s
Terrorism (Suppression of Financing) Act requires every person to
disclose any information about any transaction or proposed transaction in
respect of any property belonging to aterrorist/terrorist entity.

“Entities subject to anti-money laundering obligations’ in Special
Recommendation 1V of the Financial Action Task Force on Money
Laundering (FATF)

9. FATF's Special Recommendation 1V stipulates that if financial
institutions, or other businesses or entities subject to anti-money



-3-

laundering obligations, suspect or have reasonable grounds to suspect that
funds are linked or related to, or are to be used for terrorism, terrorist acts
or by terrorist organizations, they should be required to report promptly
their suspicions to the competent authorities. In line with the approach
underlying disclosures of money laundering in general, the obligation is
put on everyone. Section 12(1) of the United Nations (Anti-Terrorism
Measures) Ordinance (the Ordinance) (Cap. 575) gives effect to this
requirement.

New section 10 - prohibition of recruitment for terrorist groups

10. The new section 10 in the United Nations (Anti-Terrorism
Measures) (Amendment) Bill 2003 provides that -

(@) aperson shall not become a member of, or recruit another person
to become a member of aterrorist group, which he knows or has
reasonable grounds to believe is specified under section 4 or 5;
and

(b) an existing member of a terrorist group shall cease to be such a
member if he knows or has reasonable grounds to believe that the
terrorist group is specified under section 4 or 5.

11. The intention for covering only specified terrorist groups under
the new section 10 isto afford a greater degree of clarity and certainty for
the public to comply with the provision. Subject to further discussion at
the Bills Committee, we are amenable to the suggestion of extending the
section to all terrorist groups, irrespective of whether they are specified
under section 4 or 5, to bring it more in line with the present sections 7, 8
and 9.

“Having reasonable groundsto believe”

12, “Belief” is an inclination of mind towards assenting to, rather
than rejecting, a proposition.  The grounds which can reasonably induce
that inclination of mind may, depending on the circumstances, leave
something to surmise or conjecture (George v Rockett (1990) 179 CLR
104 at 116 (H.C. Aust.)). Asillustrated in HKSAR v Shing Siu-ming &
Others ((1999) 2 HKC 818), and HKSAR v Yam Ho-keung (CACC 555
of 2001) (copies of the relevant judgments at Annexes B and C
respectively), “reasonable grounds to believe’ requires the prosecution to
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prove both an objective and a subjective element -

(a) objective element — there were grounds that a common sense,
right-thinking member of the community would consider as
sufficient to lead a person to the belief; and

(b) subjective element — those grounds were known to the accused.

If the Court accepts that those grounds were unknown to the accused, the
accused commits no offence as the prosecution fails to prove mens rea at
(b) above.

13. “Having reasonable grounds to believe’ is an established mental
element which attracts criminal liability pursuant to existing criminal
laws. We consider it appropriate for this element to be applied in the
Ordinance. The prosecution bears the burden of proving both elements
at paragraphs 12(a) and (b) above beyond reasonable doubt.

Sections 7 and 8 - prohibition on supply of and making available
fundsetc. toterroristsand terrorist associates

14, Sections 7 and 8 give effect to paragraphs 1(b) and (d) of
UNSCR 1373. Paragraph 1(b) overlaps to some extent with paragraph
1(d) in that both deal with provision of funds. However, paragraph 1(d)
requires all States to “prohibit their nationals or any persons and entities
within their territories from making any funds, financial assets or
economic resources or financial or other related services available,
directly or indirectly, for the benefit of persons who commit or attempt to
commit or facilitate or participate in the commission of terrorist acts, of
entities owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such persons and of
persons and entities acting on behalf of or at the direction of such
persons’. The emphasis is on the prohibition of the supply of funds to
terrorists and terrorist associates, the purpose being to curb financial
support for such persons. The proposal that the offender must have the
intention for the funds to be used for carrying out terrorist acts falls short
of the above requirement to prohibit provision of funds to all terrorists
and terrorist associates. It also creates a loophole alowing funds to be
legally provided to terrorists and terrorist associates as long as the
provider does not intend the funds to be used for terrorist acts.
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Specification of terroristsand terrorist associatesin the Gazette

15. The Ordinance does not provide that a person is presumed to
know of the existence or contents of a notice or an order published in the
Gazette. The purpose of the presumption as provided for under sections
4(5) and 5(4) isto relieve the prosecution of the requirement to prove that
the specified persons or property are terrorists, terrorist associates or
terrorist property as appropriate, in the absence of evidence to the
contrary. However, if a person is charged with an offence relating to a
terrorist or terrorist associate (as for example, under sections 7, 8 or 9),
the prosecution will still need to prove that the person knew, or had
reasonable grounds to believe, that he was dealing with such a person.
The fact that the specification has been published in the Gazette does not
create a presumption or proof that the accused person had the requisite
mens rea.

Security Bureau
January 2004
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HKSAR v SHING SIU MING & ORS.

COURT OF APPEBAL

CRIMMNAL APPHEAL NO 415 OF 1997

POWRR VP, MAYD AND STUART-MOOQRE A

4 SEPTEMABR 1998, 71 OCTOBRER 5998 [on conviclion)
13 OCTOBBR, | | NOVEMBHR 1998 {on 1entence)

Crimiasl Law and Procednre - Summiog up ~ Counsel not to joterrupt
dellvery of sumening up {c make submisalons on Judge’s direction un [ow ~
Submissions (v be made ot natucal break or afier sworning up — Unless
misiakes of fagl Ju summing up - No lrregularity Lo give Jury coples of
seclions of relevant Ordinaace when judge bad explalned to Jory how the law
should be appiied '

Criminal Law and Procedure ~ Diug trafickiag - Conspiracy to Aealfic -
Dealing with proceeds of drug tralMcking ~3eparale and distinct charges -
Drug Tratticking {Recovery of Proceeds) Ordlnance {Cap 405) » 15{1)(n)

Crlr .l Law and Proceduce - fdens req - Asiipiing another to retain
benefit of drug trafficking — Meaning of ‘baring reaspanble grounds lo
belivye’ - Involving subjeciive and objectye slements - Drug TraMicking
{Recovery of Procesds) Ordinaace (Cap 405} s 25[1)(a)

Criminal Law and Procedure ~ Sealencing ~ Assisting aocther (o retaln
benzll of drug trafficking — Couslderable ssyistance to substantiel scale and
lengthy pecrlod of truMcking activites ~ Seven yeazxa' tmprisonmanl ol
wrong in principie or munifestly excesd ya - Drug Traffickiog (Recovary of
Proceeds) Qrdinancy {Cup 405) 5 25(1)(a)

Worils and Phrase:  *Having reasonable grounds o belleve’ ~ Drug
Tra{Tlchlig (Recovery of Proceeds} Osdluance {Cap 405} » 25(1)(a)
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The first applicant was charged with consgiracy o traffic in dangeraus drugs
and for dealing wilb property known or reaseoably belleved to represent 1bhe
groceeds of drug imfficking contrary to s 2311)(a) of the Drug Tralficidng (Recovery
uf Proceeds) Ondirance (Cap 405). The second and thint applicants wers chaged
with apslsting the firs! applicant (o retaln the benelil of drug rafFcking, contrary
to the old section 5 25(E}a} of Lhe sarae Ordinance. Al tln ihe. istues wese
whelher the fins! applican| was pari of the conspisscy and whellier Ihe second and
third appilcanis knew or bad reasvnable grounds lo believe thatl Ihe person
assisted wan 3 drug trallicker os biad beacBiled from drug Uafficking. The applicams
wore cunvicted by & judge and » jury. On appeal, il was argued, inter alig, that

(i) there was a cuatarial iregulasity in the irial 95 tha Jury was supplied with
8 copy the Drug Troificklog {Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinanoe thereby snabling
thiem to interprel and divect themselves on law;

(i) in respect of 1he cats of the first applicant, the Judge erred fo fatling tu
require the prosecution 10 elecs tv procecd oo eithes the conspitacy coimnl or he
subslamive count conkaary (o 5 25¢}};

(if} the tris] Judge mirdlrecied the jury in respect of the nzaning of the phase
‘knowing or haviog reasopabto grounds lo believe' which tvas the requisile
merital elemont lo proving an offence under s 25(1),

Op 23 Octobec {998 the Counl of Appeal dismissed all ihres applicanis'
spplicelions for leave to appral sgainst sentence. The aecond and third applicants
proceeded 1o thair applications for jeave tp sppeal apainsl belr respective seniences
of seven years' imprisonment. '

Meld, dsmissing the applications for leave (o appeal against coovictlon
sod sentence;

(1) The jury had only reccived copies of the relovan) suctions of the Ordinance,
Fucther, the judge had given & detailed explanation on the sections and directions
on how the baw should bs applied. The provivion of coples was a matier of
providing ag side temoire. Thare was no irvegularily (at B231-824C).

(2) The conapiracy count and tho relaied subsiantva count contrary Lo s 25(1)
weie nol alfecnalive chasges, They wete scpacale and dlstinet charges snd
lodependent of eech ather. A person cowld be chasged with bolh drug eafficking
arid dealing with the proveeds of the traliicking tal A24C-B). .

{3) 'Hoaving reasronabte grounds to belisve: invalved duhjeclive and objestive
elemants. 1l roquired prool that there weie grounds that a comman aenge, right-
thinking member of the comruunity would conalder wers sufficient to lead s
person to believe thal the person being aasisled was o drug trafficker or had been
assisted thernfrom. This was tha objectve clomeni. It also had to bs piovad that
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thess gruunds were knuwn 1o the defendani. This wes the suhbjeclive elemenl The
Jjudge had se§ Lau bigh a burden of proofin directing that Ibess must be ballel by
Lhe defendmil (ihe subjeclive efemeni) and that e reasonabla maon would have held
such a heliel (the objeciive element). While therr were misdlrections, there was
nu injustice 1 the applicanty ay the judge placed a higher butden on the prosecution,
The direclions favoured the defence (al 8Z5H-I1, 829G-R108).

(4) The tralficking acilvilies wese of a subsianlial scale and over s lengthy
petivd. Both Lhe second and third applicanls gave considersbie asairtance to the
Gestappicant. tn the tght of the facls, it wax nol realistlc 1o wiempl to differentists
Uelweea Uieir criminality. Both were aware or In a posllion te have been aware of
the implicattuns of their inyolversent. The Julge was migdful of the secerslty of
bringing deme o anynne who contemplaled rendesing asalslance in bl way the
dire vonsequences which would ensue i( they wers brougbl Lo justice, It couid nul
be said lhese reniences were either wrong in princlple or manifenly eacessive (at
#32C/D-F).

Obiter

"It was must inappropriate for caunsel 1o juierupl the Judge and compluin sbowl
directions ou the luw when the judge was in he cousse of delivering the svinming-
up, 1t was foc the judge to struclure and present bis suerming-up. UF il was
incortect ar iucomplete as v the law these mailers shoutd be puinled out te him
in Use abrence of the jury ul a natural break or afler the swnming-up hed biaen
compileled. IF the judge had made an esror of ficl, towever, il wa proper [ar
connsel to immedistely deaw the judge’s atteution to i (o1 B27C/D-7).

Legistation celerred 1o
Drug Tuufflcking (Recavery uf Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap 405) a8 4(1)(a), 25
(1}, (4} (Former sections evpenseded by No 89 of 1995), 25(1), 25A

| Editoriul nute: as 1o summing up o te jury In tals before the Courl of Iint
Insiance penasully xes Habsbury’s Lawe of Hong Kong Yo! 9, Criminal Law and
Procedure [130.780) et seq).

Applicalions

Theze were applications fos Jeave to eppeal againa! convicton and sentenco,
At & trial befure Sajed J end a Jury, e Hinl applicant was coavicied of conspircy
W Ualfic in daogeruus drugs amd of deallng wilh propedty known or reasvnably
believed 1v sepresent (he prucoeds of drug iefficking and was sentenced (o 30
yents® imp:izoiwnens. ‘The seeoad and Ihivd applicanta were each coovicted uf
assisling anulher lo reiain thia benefit of drug rafficking and rentenced to seven
years' imprirkeninent The lacts sppear sulliciently [n the following judgment.

ferome Matthews and Reymond Yu (Paul Kwong & Co) for the firsi and
second applicavtix {on cunviction anly). .

Christopher Grounds (Qldham L & Nie| for the third applican:,

First applivant in person {on senfence).

drcaad applicant in person (on sensence).

Michaet Dlanchflower and Alex Lee [Direcier of Public FProtecutions) for the
respandent.

Li®y¥¥) 2 BKC HKSAR v Shing Siu Ming {Mayo JA) Bl

Biayo JA: The fisst applicant who was tried before Sajed f and 8 Jury
secks leave lo appral agalmit Wis convic lion for a conspiracy to iralflc in
dangerous drugs and for dealing with properly known or reasonably belicved
to 1epresent the praceeds of drug trafficking. He alse seeks leave {0 gppeal
agaiosf the senlsnce of 30 yeary’ imptisonmen) inposed upva him in
respect of these offences,

The second applicant who is the common law wife of the fitsi spplicam
secks leave lo appeal epaingl her conviction for gasisting another I relain
the beaefit of drug rafRcking and leave o appes! ugainst the sentence of
scven yoars' hmprisonment impased upon her for 1his.

The third applicant who is the younger stster of the Grst applicant seeks
leave 1 appeal agnins! hor convicilon for a similar oflence to the secomt
applizant and Jeave Lo appeal ngainst the sentence inpused upon hier of
seven years,

Parliculars of the offences in question are as (ollows:

Caunt

SHING Stu-raiog, between aboul the 15tk day of Nuvergber, 1994 aml the 25th
dry of Novembar, 199 in Hong Kong and in Australla, conspired with LEE

Cheung-wah, CHAN Chung-kan, WONG Kong-loong, CHAN Man-shan, LAM

Vi (also known es Vi LAM), HONG Lu {also known &s Lu HONQG), LT Yi
{alye kaowa 85 Yi L)), TAN Min-jiag (ahio know 32 Min Jing TAN) and
persons uaknown (o traffic in a dangerous drug, naraely heroin,

Count 2

KWONG Pu-yin, beiween about tha 614 day of Rebruaty, 1995 and the 3]st
day of Augusi, 1995 in Hong Kong, wu concemad in an smangement wheseby
the redantion or control by or on behalf of SHING Fiu-ming of the 1add SHING
Siv-miog’s procweds of dryp imBieking wag faclitaied, In reapect of: {1} Hoog
Rang curreacy $334,734.93, () Hong Xong currency $1,3 30.975.00, and (ili}
Hong Kong curtency $300,000.00, koowing or baving reasonable grounsls ro
believe ihal the sald SHING Siv-niing caried o8 or had cacried on drug
irafficking or had benelited From drug tredTicking.

Coun1 3

SBNG Yuet-fong, belween aboul the 9tk ey of Mey, 1995 and the ALt day of
August, 1995 in Hong Kong, was concerned Ip an arrangement wheceby the
retention or control by or on behalf of SHING Slu-ming of the sald SHING
Siu-ming’s proceeds of drug rafficking war fucililaled, in respect of Australian
cugrency §1,527,000.00, knowing or having reasonable grounds {0 bellave tha
lhe 3ald 3HING Siu-ming carmied on gz Wnd camied un drug trafficking or has
benefited from drug iralfickisg,

Count 4

SBING Siu-ming, belwesa the {3 day of Seplember, 1995 and the 271y day of
Naveraber, 1995 both dates tnclusive, in Hong KRong, knowlng or haviug
rearonable giovnds (o believe Lhat peaperty ol 8 value of Austraiian culrency
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$820,217.36, in whole ur in pan dicecly or jndirectly represented proceeds of
drug Irafficking, did deu] with that propesty,

The conspiracy in question involved We supply of large quantities of
heratn frun Lhe canspivators in Hong Kong to other conspiralorz who wete
resident in Sydney Ausiralia. The procedure which was sdopled was for
Ilie herain 1o be packed in water supply equipment and then io be air
freighted {o Sydney. On amival in Sydney it was unpacied and peucesssd
and then suld in mansgeatle quaniities. Part of the proceeds of sale wele
lhen senl back t0 Hoog Kong 1o be sharcd armongst the Hung Kong
cunspiralors,

Mauers came 0 8 head when rsids were conducted at two of the
premises used for the operalion in Sydney. On 25 Noverober 1995 at ubout
T:08)pm officers from the National Criipe Authorily attended sl premises
at 43 Highehill and arresied Lam, Hoog, Li and Tan. A search al the
preinises revealed 3.863kg of pure heroin; a hydraulic press end equipment
for processing the harvin lo 3 lower pusity together with empty panagine
packels. This chemical is used for this purpose. They alse found a large
acmount of cash in Auztralian dollars and various records indicating that
sutiitantial sums of money bad been femitied 1o the st applivanl in Hoog
Kong. In aduition o this there were particulars of fiest applicani's accgunt
ai Hang Seng Bank head office in Hoag Kong and ap accounl at the
HongkangBaok.

A sccond rald was conducted at Hong's residence al 2, Fairmount
Streed, Here some of the waler Sysiens were {ound which had been ugad
to cumtain the heroin belag shipped to Sydney together with 7.9kg of
lervin, Money and other documents were also found which wera of
relevance (o the case including a piece of paper which bsd wrilten on jt
pacticulurs nf ihe third applicant's account at the Hgng Seng Bank,

50 far &s the Houg Kong end of the operalion svas conceraoed, thore wes
evideace (hat the {irsl and second eppiicants were amcsted on 27 Novernber
1995, However it would appear that the other Hong Kong congpiralors
nomiely Lee Chieung Wah, Chan Chung Kan, Wung Kong Loong and Chan
Mun Shan semehuw gol Information sbaut the Auslraiian raids and managed
b eacapie belure being nrrested.

There was delafled evidence concerning the nature and scope of the
upsration in Hong Kong and how the beroin had been shipped 10 Australia,

Orie of the maters which emerged from this was thal Lee and CK Chag
had been pame movers in Hong Kong. The Dirst applicam agreed thal they
were both close friends aod that tiete had been elose cuntacl between tho
men al the relevan] time when ghiproents of beeoin had been wade to
Auslratia, There was evidence of nurergus telephone conversations agd
their close association had alse been confirmed by evidence ublained from
surveillance activites.

There was alsy tenglhy evidence from M Toohey a partaer in Arthur
Andersou Accountanls in Ausiralis who had undertaken a major tracing

[i999] L HKC HKSAR v Shing Siu Ming (Mayg JA) LA

exercise which clencly demonsiratey low funds which had emanaled Irom
the Australian cooapirators had found el way inlo Ine sccounts refemed
to in Hoag Kong. In sucunary HK$46.90; was remilied Lo Hong Kong of
which the first applican! lad cecejyed directly or indirectly HiC8 14.8m. He
also received almost 80% of the money lranalferred belween recipients,
Hall of The funds had been withdrawn in cash and the otler half rerosiied
in his accounts at the time of bis arres].

it was also clear from the traciog exercise that the nmounts refesred lo
in counts 2 and 3 crapated from the Australign cunspiratoss.

{Uis not necessary o deal with Lhe canspiracy in any detail 15 it was
comman graund af lhe (rial tha! here was vverwhelming evidence of the
existonce of the conspiracy, The only llve jssue was whether Lhe fest
applicanl had been a participent in the conspirney, .

e gave evidencs at big irlal. He claired 10 bave wide business intecests
which jncluded a used car business, some trading i real esiate and
breeding dogs which cngaged in fighting whera heay ¥ bols were piaced,
The first applicant claimed thai these aclivities had been highly
femunetative,

Su fer as all the payments wore concemed, the first appicant clalmed
thal he hrad pormilted his close friegd M Lee 1o use his bank sccaunte, He

-hnd also &1 Mr Lee's Instigation asmanged for the secand and third applicants

to assisl in uving thelr accounts for Lee’s purposes. Ke clrimed to have
abrolutely no idea that Lee had engaged in drug tafficking. He had not
considered it (o be Necassary 0 ask Lee why he wished to have {arge
paymenls made into his accounl asd for him to mieke payments of thege
amounts back 1o him in dus course,

The second and third applicants also gave evidence. in like fashion they
both ssld thal Uicy had oaly done whet (he first applicani had asked them
to do and shal they had not though( it to be necessary (o gol him to explaly
what be was doing. They both added that it had neyer occutred (0 thein
that the first npplica.ni mighl have been jnvolved indrug Lrafficking,

405) or seclinns theregf, thereby enabllng thers, in effect, to interpret and
ditecl theraselves on law, a mater cxclusively in the province of the trinl
judge.

The second and third appllcants make a stmilar complaint g0 it ig
vomveniens to deal with them together,

What ts imponant to bear jn migd is that this was pot simply 2 case of
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the judge giving the Jury vugies of the Ordinance lo consider, The jury
ealy reccived copies of the relevani sections which were undes

shuuld be applieq.

This wus nol a gueslion of lie judge supplying e marerial 1o the jury
to titzke what they could of iL They had already received detailed ditectjons

appoal cannol be sustained.

The firet applicanl’s second ground is that the judge erred io that hre
wrongly failed to require the prosoculion 1o meke an electon 1p proceed
o either the conspiracy count {oouat 1) or the relaied substantive couni
contrary te s 25(1) of e Dsug Trafficking (Reco very of Proceeds)
Ocdinance (Csp 405) (count 4). ’

This ground sppears (¢ be miscancejved. Charges | and 4 are not laid
in the alternative. They are separute and dislinct charges and indegendent
of euch other,

By 8 25(1) a person can be charged with drug trafficking and deafing
with e proceeds of the irabfeking.

"The vbtaining uf 8 convielion for drug lrafTicking is oot & pre-requisite

Uafficking. This ground caonot succeed,
Ground 3 is Wvat the judge's direclions on aw jn rolalion {v canspiracy
lo Laffie in dangeryus druge were deficienl, voplusing and coolrsdictory,
There is no medit in this ground. The judge’s dircetion was sufficienl jn
the vircumstances of the case. It was Benenily accepled that there was an

Ueen a participant.
Oraund 4 s it the judge’s directuns on law in rejalon 1o dealing with

propedly kaown uy reasonably bolieved (o ropresent the proceeds of drug
lralficking were deficjent and conlusing.

The second and thicd npplicams have made gimilas compleinis in thejc

concerned-with the Ordlornee as §t was 4l 1he time of Ihe offences, The
first applicant was charged (count 4) under the amended Ordinance. The

(199%) 2 TKC HKSAR v Shing Sin Ming (Mays 14} 825

eriginal Ordinance can be paraphrased makiog /| applicatile 1o the facts in
the charges aced by the second and lhird applicanty as follows;

A persan who enters into or s alkersvise convemed in an arTangement whereby
the refentlon ot coslral Uy or on behulf of pnolbes's proceeds of drug tealficking
is fecilitaled, koowing or having reatonable grounds Tor belief thal ihal olher
person is & person who caries op or who bay carried on drug talficking, or has
benelited From drug tmalTicking, commits on ollence,

The amended s 25 uader which the firat applicant was charged retained the
words 'knowing or hsving reazonable Brownds to belisve’. Il creaje o new

Ul played no par in lhese proceedings,

Uunder both Lhe old sectipn and ihe pew section the onus is on the
praseculion tu prove an amangemont of lhe type specilied enteted inlo by
8 person ‘kaowing or having reascnable grounds lo believe’ that the

teasoneble doubl thei (1) thecs was such ap arrangement; (2) 1hat the
Person wlo entered into it participated knowing of having reasonable
grounds lo believe that e person assisted was 3 drug irafficker or had
benefited fom drug (rafficking.

The old 3 25(4) provides that il 18 & defence 1o prove Lhat the person
charged did not knew of suspect that the atrangement relased to the
proceeds of drug tralficking.

Itis iraportant to give veparale considerstion o the mailers which the

regards the proof of eatry tto an arrangenten: by the two applicants 1o
belp, in one case the hugband and in the other the brother, to retain or
control money. As the Jury wers clearly salisled that the firal applicunt
was involved in dng trefficking, thal matler ajsy vccaslons no difficulty
when considering thess two effonces,

The difficulty arises from the uge of the words ‘knowing eor heving
reasonable grounds o bejieve'. Knowledge if proved would sinply resulve
the mader, Difficulty, however, arises from Ihe uge of the warda 'having
ressvnable prounds to belisve’. Tuis phrase, we are satisfied, conialns
subjective and objeclive clemonty. In our view it requises prool that there
WEIC grounds thal a comman sapse, righl-ihinking member of |he
cominunity would consider wagg suflicien to Jead a petson fa belfeve thal
Lhe person being assisicd was s drug trafficker or bad benefiled therefrar.
That is the objective clement, I\ must elso be proved that (hose grounds
wvere known Lo the defendant. Thal is Lhe aubjective elemenpt.

We turn now 19 the summing-up 1o esk whather (e Jury were properly
directed on these elements.
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‘Lhe judge cunmenced his direclion as regards counts Z and 3 mt p 107
seltng out s 4(1)(a) of the Ordinance, which provides thal:

4(1)}For the purppaes vl this Ordinance —

{a) any paymenis ur ather rewasds teceived by a persan el any time
(whether before or aftes the comuneacement of this Onlmance) in
cunnection with drug trafficking carred oy by him or anvther, are his
proceeds of drug irafficking; and

(b} (e value of his proveeds of drug Usffickiog is the ogpregale of the
values of the pryments or other rewards, -

He then directed the jury as follows:

So e Crown for thin couot twe and three gust prove Hrsily, that the amounta
menlivued in counl lwo and three are Shing Siu-ming's proceeds of drug
trafficking, he belng mentioned them es the relevani person. Secondly, Lhat D2
and D1, i their respeclive counis, knetw of had reasonable grounds (o believe

- that Shiag Siv-ning casried on drug iratficking sad thirdly, that D2 and D3
individually, in reapect of their ctounts, wers canceraed in an anangement
wheaehy retention of cantrul by or on behaif of Shing Siu-ming of his procesds
uf drug wafficking was faclialed, aud the relevang pereon, as I've said, who is
mewlioned in section 250 Xa) (n Ibis case is Shing Slu-ming.

He wem on (o say:

The burden Yies on the Crown o prove ol theae mallers and it must do 30
beyond reasunable doubt If you e 80 sure — if you are sure shoul that — You
sill then go un to cunsider seclion 25(4), which is the siswtory defence ...

He Lhen went on 10 road s 25(4)(s) and (b):

25. ()  In procesdings againgl a person for an offence under this wection, it
in a defence \u prove —

(3 hat be did oot know or suspeci that the uangement mlsted (o any
person’s proceeds of drug trafficklng: or

(b} rat he did not kaow or suspec] Lhet by the arrangemant the retention
«r canltol by or oo hebalf of the sclovanl person of a0y propedty was
Tacililaled or, 21 the case may be, that by the arengemesl any property
was used as suentianed in sub-seclion (1).

He lhen poinled oul to the jury that the burden on the defendant was
dischasged by evidence satiefying the jury of tire probability of thal which
the delendant was called vpon 10 asiablish. He sajd:

1 uther wonls, un ihe balance of probabiliies and thay js it is more likely than
not thal they did net know or suspecl. That Js Uie burden on the defendant,
Quite distinci and quite apast from lae bunden on the Crawn, The burden on the
Crown is lo prova their charges beyond teasorable doubt, not to with the
defence with respect uf the proof of the stalutory defence. They can do it on ihe
basis uf 1be balance of prubabilities — more likely than pot,

{1999} 1 HE( HKIAR v Shing Siv Ming (vlaya JA) 827

He (hea tunied to the facis relating fo count 2. He had, howcver, barcly
enbarked upon lhem whea Mr Blanchflower indicated thal be wealed an
adjournmeat. In the abseace of (he jury he then loid the Judge, inter alja:

Now. 10 a lawyer these soctions aze difficult. You can imagime svbal it would
bre like to a layman. Bul with respect, my Lord, 1 find that ditection someivhay
confuslng, bus {1 was deficient. Your Lardship did not oxplain the pruceeda

. from drug Irafficking In Isymen’s verms, meanjog that 3t could be procceds
{rom sewal drug wafficking, ot a laundering, & movey-laundecer Isundesing a
moncy-laundeter's money.

He then went on 1o complain lhat the judge had ool cxplained the meaning
of 'drug trafficking’, of ‘benefit from drug trafficking', of 'reasonable
gruunds o lelieve’ and of "knuwledge, belicf and Buspicion ns is Jound in
the defence — section 25(4)°. §t was a masl inappropriate tntervention.
Mr Blanohfluwer, before this court, has suggested that the judge had
directions on lhese maters rexdy as, aller lhe jury way recalled, he appeared
1o sead fram his putes which related thereio and he has submiited thal the
omissiop of lhe direclions rouy have been an oversight. However that may
be, an interveniion such as this showld noi hava come unli] the completion
of the summing-up. It is Fur the Judge o struclwre and present his summing-
up. I il is incomect or incomplete us 1o the law Uese matterr should ba
poiated gul o him in the absence of the jury 8t a natural bresk or after the
summing-up has been completed, Inlerruptions such aa were mede in the
course of a summing-up are oot anly Inapproprista but are likely W do
more hao than good. J is otherwiae Jf Lhe judge has rmede a misiske of
fact. in such circumsiances, i| i proper for counscl Jmmediately to draw
his attention to It

After lhis Intervention the judge proceeded with bis summing-ug apain
referring o » 4(1)(a) asying:

Sa wha the Cvoma s saying, is thai Shing's proceeds of drug trellicking
would bo any peyments or rewasds received by him in connection with drug
trsfficking catried on by him or by wnother person. Sp Were it {3 not only
reatsicied lo Shing, bul another peraun also, any other person, and then that
tmay be laken logether with 25(2), which reads il viay, Thal is part of vectlon
25(2). In this seclion, refeteace to any person's proceeds of drug Lrafficking
incivde a refeconce to aay properiy which in whole or In pan, directly ot
indlrectly sepresenied in his hands hs pruceeds of oufficking. Now, thers Hie
icference reiatos to an anengement and 1atks of partly the proceeds of drug
trafficking, any peraon’s prooveds will includs an ¥ propecty, which in whole o
in pant, direcily oc indirecily, way fahls handy as being proceeds from his drug
unlficking.

I The judge ther retumed fo 5 25(1)(a) and polnted ouy that:

S0 if ju this presemt case, (he (a3 defendant at any fime received Ay payment
or reward connected with drug tallicking, vaniod g by him or by anolher
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persun, anywhere in Hang Kung, in Australia, then lie would have benelited
frons that dreg ualficking, In other words, the whole ciuphasis is that hese, you
atc dealing with one man, bul e may have benefiled by receiving paymaenls,
rewandy, from uther peaple. And then, Whis is what it comes ta, if DI et any
linte, tecelved a paymeal ar reward connected with drug tra{ficking, carried on
Uy him or another anywheze, he may be sitling sight in [ront uf me, hic may be
siltng Lo engihier comer of the world, anywhere, then he would have benefited
{rum thal. He reay have benefited oven from e Jrug trafficking by snother
becauss ha gels the money in his band. .

He Yieve dealt properly wilh the words "beocfited from drug trafficking'.
He was concentraling as regards \hese lwo charges on ‘benefited from
drug trafficking’ rather than upon carried on drug trafficking’.

He wenl on to dedd with the ‘arangement which facititates the tetention
or contsol uf this man Shing's proceeds of the drug safficking' . There was
no real issue ag (o the applicants’ involvernent in an arrangement which
facililuled the retention or contral of money. The issue was, as the Judge
then told the jucy, wheiher "they were concerned in Lhis agmngement for
relenlinn ot conlrol by Shing of the proceeds of his drug trafficking —
they did fhat — they cotered joto that arrangerent while knowiog o
having reasnnuble grounds 1o believe that Shing had carted vn or was
carrying on drug Lralficking or had bensfited from drug Irafficking’. He
told the jury Lhal ‘beaefiting [rom drug wafficking" meanl simply obimining
"t benefit ur rewsrd from any other person'. He went un (o say that the
arcanrgemeat had fo be entered injo as ‘a censciuus acl’. This strayed

litlle frum the wording of The seclion bul the judge immedialely went on
lo say:

S0 Lhe main 1hiug is thay, 21 | have eaplained all this, the montal eferaeni —
nuens jea — niental efemenl of the offence is knowing or having reasonsble
giounds (o belinve thal (e ladies, when lhey eateted or concemmed temselves
with this arrangemeot, that tiey dld that knowing or having reasonable grounda

te beliave thal Shiny, Di, was connacied with or had benetiled from drug
irallicking.

Nu abjection cau be takeu (o tbe summing-up to this point. The fudge then
wenl on Lo fol) the jury thal when consldoriag the wasds 'knowing or
heving reagonsble grounds lo believe’ they:

niusl dislinguish, keep these two things apart — believing, belicFand knowledge
— Iltese are two dilTeren things. Delief s meniel element which Ls lesser than
knuwledge. Knowledge is when you know somethlng yoursell ... Belief Iy
suhielliing Jess Lhen knowiedge. So this beliel, in Ue niinds of thess two ledies,
1t counts lwo and thies, they mus! have kad reasonable grounds to believe thas
D1 was invalved in and casrying on in drug Luliness and drug ualflicking or

hod cardded on drug reflicliog, ar biad beazBited from drug traflicking, That is
number gne.

Here the juuge was wrong as he was direcling that it was incumbent upon
Uie prosecution to prove either knowledge or belief, which he chamcterised

[1%99} 2 HKC HXSAR v Shing Siv Ming (Mayo JA) 829

a5 'something less than knowledge', in the niinds of the delendants, The
test ig, i fect, not so high. The prosecution has to prove knowledge of
traffickirg or thal a defendant had rcasonable grounds o believe thal there
was tralficking. The prosecution i1 nol called vpon to prove actual befief.
It would be suffictent lo psove reasonable grounds for such a helief and
thal Lhe defendant knew of those grounds.

The judge went on:

And number twi is thal thels belief ot be based upon reasonable grounds, 8o
these are the two tings tere 1o belleving. They belleved, they may bave

* bedieved, or under the {aw, Lhey belleved o Ibay must have (ormed his beliel
in their minds, thal D1 carrled oo ot hed cacried on drug \ealTicking or had
benafiled from drug tralTicking. And for that belief, there must be reasunable
grounds upon which it is based.

The judge, lraving given an example uf Lbe way ia which a belicf could ge
formed, weat on:

Then the question Lhay bocumes relevant Is whether Juoking al thoae Faciors,
having thal infermalion which these two ladies, D2, D3, bad af the time they
formed ihat boliel in theit minds, whether s rensonabla person would also be
of thal same opinion, seme view. And louking at e Informatiun which they
bad when they furmed this bolief in thelr heads end their minds, that D} was
carying on or bsd caried oo drug rafficking ot had bancfiled From drug
wafficking, sehalever a reazonalle persun wyuld have Tommed that beliel on the
asme infurmation, That alsn comes tnlo yesr cunsideration. You bave got (o
cunsider ai] thel.

In the passage above, the judge apain incorreclly indicates that the question
for the jury is whelhee ‘these two Jadies ... had ... formed that belief in
their muinds’. He then poses s sceond matter For resplution -— "Whelher o
reasunisble person would alyo be of that sarue opinion, same view...
Whalever 3 reasonable persun would have formed that belicf on the same
information’.

He has here secagnised thal he is desling with subjective and objeciive
clements. He has pluced 1he former, ie that there must be bollef by the
defendani, too high. 1t s ascessary only (o prove thal the Jefendani knew
of the grounds. In this irfal therc was no Issue in this regard as both
defendanis sdmilted knowledge of the grounds upen which the prozecution
was relying. He has simitarly placed tou high & burden on the prasecution
as regards the ‘objective elemonl, L.e. the belief of tho reasonable man. The
jury did nol have to be satisfied that a reasonable persor would have held
such a bejief bul only thal such a petson would be salisGed thal there were
grouatds sufficienl to sustain such a beliel. Cleacly if the jury was satisfied
that a reasonable person would have held such a beliel, in accordance wilh
tbe direclion given by the judge, luco they must have been satiefied thal
the prounds were sufficient to susiain such a helicf,

As L0 bolh the subijective and the objective olement, the Jurge placed

lac high a burden oo the pruseculion by ielling the jury hat they bad 1o be

ARC-NUL-9@

oL 1YI3E1 36035 INDWNGGN0D  WOMd £7:41

556866852

PEPTd



PBEc—-NIC~9a

IT:4LT

+ 852 2845 1609

c9LE PESGE 258+

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

ol d

P.8328

14:53

@3-DeEC-26a3

B Youg Kung Cases

11999) 2 KT

salislicil it Uie applicanis had formed that belief ‘in their heads agd their
minds' and thal, wleo cousidering thal, lhey had 1o take into accoust
Whether ‘a reasunable person would have formed that belief oa the same
infurmation’, Thece was, Jiowever, no injuslice donc to e applicants by
Uhese Jirections as tiey placed a higher burden of proof upon the proseculion
than Is slipulated by the asclion, In facl, they favoured the defence.

The judge wenl on 1 deal wilh the facls retating to count 2. He said:

And you will consider Uiat on the bosls of the Iaw thel 1 explained to you,
whelher Kwong, ihe 20d Jefendant, had actoally af thet particular time during
Unixe seven months, formed a genuine belief o hee own mnd Lhat Shing, wilth
alt thal mnsey that wus coining in, had cartied an or was carrying on, ur had
benelied frum proceeds of drug traflicking by anptber person. And il you
camne W Lhat conclusion, then, of course, she had concerned hersel! with that
errangemient which le s1ated In count two, acling on that ballef which sbe
(0rmed on loformation Lhat she had al tist particular ime, and you will ask

. yoursell, well, she farmed (hat belief, ai) fight, bul would any othes remsonable
person having thal infyrmation come to the same concluxiun?

{n We first pact of this passage when the judge mentiened *genuine belief
he is clorrly spenking of o knowledge rather than belief. The words ‘a
genuine belief in ber own mind’ could mean nathing else, In the lavier pant
ul the direction Le turns 10 ‘belief formed un infuzmation’ and again tella
the jury Uzl they must ask themselves did she form that belief and would
a reasunable parsun have formed It What we have already suid apples
eyually w thix ditection and (o the fucher referecce made sharly theceafler
to '8 genuine beliel". He then dealt with the slalntory defence (elling the
jury that they had (o;

alsu consider whelher tlie evidence gives rise to the slalulory defence which is
open An her, and thal is whether she diu nol know or suspeel Lhal the arraagement
telated (0 any person‘s proveeds uf drug trefficking, mny peraon's proceedy, or
bwu, that ahe did aot know or Suapect Lhal by arrangement, the retealion or
conlral en hehisll ol the relevant person — that s Shirg — of any property was
facililalad,

S if you are satisfied that she knew, then, of course, thls defence i
licgnlived. Remember tha this is a latutary defence. The lesser burden as |
explained is on e defendant, Nuw, she says, [ did nol know, ail righi? She
aays 11 was Ah Mo'as muney. She is nol Ueoying that she bad received this
niuney, bul she says il wos Ah Mo's monoy,

He said fivally:

You will keep in mind hls concept of benefitiog from drug proceeds, And I
you are satisfied ro Lhat you are sute, having considered all the evidence, aad
that includes Uie evidence Fur the delence, takiog all that inte aceount, if you
reschy the coaclusion that stre concemed herself with Lhis arangement, with
ial knowledge and mental efement thar § eaplained lo you earfier on the basfy
of lhe information which was avallable to Lier at that ticae, thea you will fing
lter guilty of counl 1w because then all the ingredlents of the offence wopld

T Y Ay vy T r Y

11999] 2 HRC HRYAR v 5hing Siu Ming (Muyu JA) L2

have bzen proved. You would bave cupsidered her defence. You would have
besn alive to the lact ibat the delence, the burden on ber o make out (hai
defrice is on the basis of balence of probabililics, and baving done all thal, if
you arrived at the coaclusion that the charge bas been proved heyond a
reasonable Joub!, then you convict her,

The judge then went on to cenclude, and this passage is subjecied 1o
triticism by the epplicant, saying:

Bui if you come 1o the conclusion that You acespt her evidence, tien you any
lo yowrsclf, well, we have looked a1 everylhing, we have tried 19 Peep inig her
mind, and we bave considered what s rearonable men with all that inforrmasan
- might thiak, if you come to the conclusion thet she i lelling tke Irulh, ar fat
Lier vervion might be ke or you are loft jn #ny doubt about the praseculion
case, then you wid) give her the benefic of that doubl and find her nol gniliy.

It is suggested that the words ‘we have contidered whal a reasonoble 1gen
wilh all that information might think’ age o misdizection. The judge was
here zepeating his objective test to which we have already reflarged, It js
true, a3 sve bave already said, ot {tis 5 nusdirection bul Il was oao which
favoured the applicant. 1l was not necessaty 10 prove elther that the
defenduat had sctuslly held the belicf or thal a reasonable man would have
Lild it bur only that the defendant knew ol the grounds and that they were
such a3 a8 comnion sense, tight-lthioking reeraber of (he cagumunily would
bave asjd were sufficient lo establish such g belief. If it were proved Lhat
such e persun would have held that belief, then it must also have been
proved thal he was sutisfied that there were grounds for the huiding of jt.

Tle jindge then told the Jury to apply all he had said jn telation 1o (ke
second cownt o their consldezation of the third count.

It is true that there were misdirections but they were such 93 would have
worked (o the benefil of the applicants. We arg galisfisd thal Lhe jury,
following the directions that were given, must have been sallsfjed {hat the
applicants cither knew or had Teasonable grounds to believe that Shing
Vas 8 person whu carrled on or had earried on drug trafficking ur had
benefited therefeom.

In couns 4 which concemed the firsi applicant, the judgo told the jury
when dealing wilh 1hat appltcaot:

.- W is for you to be salisfied hat he did Jeai wilh thal propenty knowing or
having reasanable Brounds io belicve that the Properly was any paraon's
procosds of drug frafficking, You have beard on {hal evidence, Uie Auslealiap
part of i, snd you bave beand of his conncclion with thal, You wli keep thal
ia mind snd think, well would a icasonable peraon come o tha conclusion,

He dJid nol go on to explria again the words ‘knowing or brving reasonable
grounds o believe’ bul they must have had fresh in their minds the
explanalion which Lie had Just given. What wa bave sajd sbpye applisx.

The direction erey only iv su far a3 il piaced wo high a burden on the
Prasecution,
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All of the applications ace Sismissed.

The first applicant's application for leave to appeal against seplence is
disnusaed ¢pon abandonment on 23 Oclaber 1998. The second and third
applicants seek Jeave tu appeal againal their sentences of seven years'
imprisenment for assizting another W retain the benefit of drug lafTicking.

IL has been accepted by Mr Blanchiflower for the prosecution and
Mr Grounds for the thisd applicant that it is ol feasible to altempt to lay
down guidelines for senlences for this 1ype ol offence. The reason for this
is Lhe wide range of cominallty encountered.

Qur judgment in respect of the applications for leave to appeal agpiosi
eunyictivn conlained a detafled descriplion of the nalure of Lie conapiracy
fo toffic in dangerous drugs snd the involvement of sach of these (adiss.
Sulfice il Lo say that the Lrafficking activities were undertaken un a very
substantial scale vver a Jengthy pediod of twne. Adso it can be 1aid that
these Jadies rendered conslderable agsiatance to the first applicant. The
second applicant recoived beneflts from her involvement, The thicd applicant
Wlig was an accounlan! was closely iavolved in lie first applicant’s financial
affairs. In the citcumsiancas of the case il is nol realistic to allempt to
differentiale helween lhe criminalily of these 1wo ladics,

Whal can be said is that both ladies wese aware or were in a posilion (o
hiave been aware of the inplicalions of thelr involvemen, The judge was
mimlfu) of the necessity of bringing home to anyone.who contemplales
rendering assistance in tis way the dire vonsequences which will ensue f
they are broughi 1o justice. It caonot be said that these sentences wese

either wrong in principle or manifestly excessive, These applications are
diamissed.
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The applicant was charged with asdigting her brother \o tetain the benefil of

7 drug fficking contrary 1o the old ssclipn « 25(1)(a) of e Drug Teal(icking
(Recovery of Proceeis) Ordinance (Cap 40X). She was the (i defeadan) i trial,

fer brather heing the firs) defendant charged iy conaplraey to tafiic in dangerons
druge and dealing wits proceeds of drug v king. The second defendant was

the firet defendant‘s common Jaw wife and f simliar charge ay lie applicant,

All three defendanis were conviciod at irial, The adplicant way seatsnced to seven

G yeau' loprisonmesl. Their epplicstions {or leavep appeal agsioal cunviciiog
und temeace wore dismissed by ths Court of Appe‘a {xce HKSAR v Shing Siv
Ming & Ors |1999) 2 HKC 818, the 8pplicaot was e Ued spplicant in that case).
The Court of Appea) however cenifed WD questions of Jaw poaed by 1he

e first question way
coneetned with the meaning of *having seasonable grounidy for beliol” under
S\g:pmlch woplel

rizle fesl in
determiniog whether 0 defendan; had ‘rearonable grounds ta bsoi':ve‘ that the

person being assisted was g drug traflicker or hed benefileg g(wm. The
e\Cuun ol

Held, dlamlaslng the apglication:

{11 To convier, the jury had {0 flag that lhe aceused had grounds for belinving
at she was sssisting a dsug Urafficker. There wray ibe sddilional requisesnent (hay

PEBC-NY -390

Sl:AT

1YIdgI3433S INJWNYEN0S WOX

oL

S5866052

¥es971°d



B6-JAN-2884 17:15 FROM GDVERNMENT SECRETARIAT TO 25899955 P.17-34

Annex C
CACC000555/2001
CACC 555/2001
IN THE HIGH COURT OF THE
HONG KONG SPECIAL ADMINISTRATIVE REGION
COURT OF APPEAL
CRIMINAL APPEAL NO. 555 OF 2001
(ON APPEAL FROM DCCC 621 OF 2001)
BETWEEN
' HKSAR Respondent
AND
YAM HO-KEUNG Applicant

Coram: Hon Stuart-Moore VP, Mayo VP and Stock JA in Court
Date of Hearing: 28 August 2002

Date of Judgment: 24 October 2002

JUDGMENT

Hon Mayo VP (giving the judgment of the Court):

1. The applicapt (D4 at trial), aged 34, was convicted after a trial in the District Court before His
Honour Judge Line of dealing with property knowing or having reasonable grounds to believe in
whole or in part directly or indirectly represented any person's proceeds of an indictable offence
contrary to section 25(1) of the Organised and Sertous Crimes Ordinance, Cap. 455 (the Ordinance).

2. He seeks leave to appeal against his conviction.
3. There were three other defendants in his tnal. They were charged with two conspiracies and D1

was additionally charged with two counts of being in unauthorised possession of other people's
tdentity cards.

UE-JAN-2884 17:12 +B852 2524 3762 P 17



PE-JAN-204 17:15 FROM GOUVERNMENT SECRETARIAT TD 250999855 P.18/34

4. The first conspiracy referred to a conspiracy to lend money at excessive interest rates contrary to
section 24(1) of the Money Lenders Ordinance, Cap. 163. The second was a conspiracy to deal with
property in a similar manner 1o the charge which faced the apphcant.

5. On the evidence which was before him the Judge convicted the applicant's co-defendants as
charged.

6. The Judge made a finding of fact that duning the relevant period, namely from August 1998 to
April 2000, a criminal enterprise was conducted at premises at Kwai Fong Court which took the
form of money lending where grossly excessive interest rates were charged.

7. Part of the modus operandi was to open bank accounts in the names of Miranda Chan and Yiu
Yuk-lan into which payments made by borrowers would be paid. Withdrawals of moneys from these
accounts would be made from ATM machines. Between July 1999 and April 2000 a total of
$2,701,600 was withdrawn from these accounts.

8. The Judge made a finding of fact that $500,000 which had been in D1's account No. 132-30-
07197-7 at the Bank of East Asia had come from the accounts of Miranda Chan and Eva Yiu Yuk-
Jan and that the applicant had dealt with these moneys. This fact had not been disputed and the
applicant did not give evidence at the trial.

9. In a cautioned staternent dated 27 April 2000 the applicant stated: "Ah Sir, it really is the case that
my friend Ho Sui-yan (D1) told me to keep this sum of money temporarily for her. When required, |
would return the money to her. However, I don't know how she has obtained the money".

10. The Judge was satisfied, having regard to the provisions contained in section 25 of the
Ordinance, that there was sufficient evidence for the applicant to be found guilty as charged.

11. Section 25 provides:

"25. Dealing with property known or believed to represent proceeds of indictable
offence.

(1) Subject to section 254, a person commits an offence if, knowing or having
reasonable grounds to believe that any property in whole or in part directly or indirectly
represents any person's proceeds of an indictable offence, he deals with that property.

(2) In proceedings against a person for an offence under subsection (1), it is a defence to
prove that-

(2) he intended to disclose to an authorized officer such knowledge,
suspicion or matter as is mentioned in section 25A(1) in relation 1o the act
in contravention of subsection (1) concerned; and

(b) there is reasonable excuse for his failure to make disclosure in
accordance with section 25A(2).

(3) A person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is hiable-

{(a) on conviction upon indictment to a fine of $5,000,000 and to
imprisonment for 14 years; or

(b) on summary conviction to a fine of $500,000 and to imprisonment for 3
years.
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(4) I this section and section 25A, references to an indictable offence include a
reference to conduct which would constitute an indictable offence if it had occurred in
Hong Kong.”

12. This application is fairly narrowly circumscribed. Although there are three separate grounds it is
convenient to deal with them all together. They are as follows:

“1. The Learned Judge erred in determining that the offence under Section 25 of Cap.
435 is proved if the Prosecution only establish that a Defendant may have believed he
'may be dealing in the proceeds of an indictable offence".

2. The Learned Judge erred in deciding in circumstances where there were a number of
potential sources and/or explanations for the provenance and/or intended use of the
money that he could safely infer that a reasonable man must inevitably have concluded
that it was indeed the proceeds of an indictable crime.

3. The Learned Judge erred in concluding that a 'suspicion’ was the same as a 'belief"."

13. The Judge proceeded upon the basis that there was msufficient evidence to prove at the
appropriate level that the applicant knew that he was dealing with the proceeds of an indictable

offence.

14. He considered, therefore, that what he had to determine was whether the prosecution had proved
that the applicant had reasonable grounds to believe that he was dealing with such proceeds.

15. In his Reasons for Verdict, he said:
"50. To answer the question involves two stages. Firstly one asks objectively whether

reasonable grounds existed for the belief. If they did then one goes on, secondly, to ask
subjectively whether the defendant was aware of the existence of those reasonable

grounds.
51. To be given a sum as large as $500,000 in cash and to be asked to keep it
temporarily, without further explanation, when you do not know how the money was

obtained would prorapt a reasonable man to ask himself what was going on. I further
Judged that a reasonable man would, after only a little thought, come to the conclusion

that;

" It was the proceeds of crime.

- It was for investment in crime.

* It was to be hidden from creditors.

- It was to be hidden from the taxman.

" It was to be hidden from z spouse.
There is some overlap in these categories and it may be that greater imagination may

add further categories. However, | Judged that in the absence of an explanation (and I
stress that) these are the matters that must come to the mind of a reasonable mar.
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52. The fourth defendant did not give evidence. I thus have no direct evidence of what
was in his mind at the time. T am obliged to infer it. He appears to be an adult of sound
rmnd. There is no suggestion or evidence that there is anything wrong with him. In those
circumstances I naturally inferred that his state of mind was the same as that of a
reasonable man.

53. I thus inferred that he was aware that the explanation for his being asked to deal with
s0 much cash had to be one or more of the above listed matters. That is because there
were reasonable grounds to infer so,

54. Does the fact that there were reasonable grounds to believe a limited pumber of
scenarios mean that the defendant did not have reasonable ground to believe in any one
of them? To pose the question is really to answer it. It seems clear to me that when an
event can reasonably be explained on the basis of a few grounds, the man contemplating
the issue holds reasonable ground for belief in them all. By using the term 'having
reasonable grounds to believe' the draftsman and the legislature clearly made a
conscious departure from the old phrase 'knowing or believing'. The effect is to make
the offence a wide one. It means that people who deal in cash in circumstances which
produce the limited list of inferred explanations as arises here are caught by the section.
Another way of putting it is that the words of the section are aimed at condemning the
man who reasonably foresees that he may be dealing in the proceeds of an indictable
offence yet nonetheless goes on to do it. I do not consider that such a man was not
within the sights of those who promoted the Organised and Serious Crimes
Ordinance.” (Appeal bundle pp. 42-43)

16. The 1ssue on this application is whether this analysis by the Judge was well founded.
17. Mr McGowan contended that it was not.

18. He submitted that when the Judge was, near the conclusion of the passage cited, referring to what
a reasonable man might foresee he used the word "may" rather than the word “would”. This would
indicate that what the Judge had in mind was only a suspicion rather than a belief in the state of
affairs.

19. Mr McGowan submitted that this was insufficient if the approach which was adopted by the
High Court of Australia in George v Rockett 93 ALR 483 at 490 was followed:

"3. The facts to be established

In considering the sufficiency of a sworn complaint to show reasonable grounds for the
suspicion and belief to which s 679 refers, it is necessary to bear in mind that suspicion
and belief are different states of mind (Homes v Thorpe [1925] SASR 286 at 291; Seven
Seas Publishing Pty Ltd v Sullivan [1968] NZLR 663 at 666) and the section prescribes
distinct subject matters of suspicion on the one hand and belief on the other. The justice
must be satisfied that there there are reasonable grounds for suspecting that 'there is in
any house, vessel, vehicle, aircraft, or place - Anything’ and that there are reasonable
grounds for believing that the thing 'will ... afford evidence as to the commission of any
offence’.

Suspicion, as Lord Devlin said in Hussiern v Chong Fook Kam [1970] AC 942 at 948, 'in
its ordinary meaning is a state of conjecture or surmise where proof is lacking: “1
suspect but I cannot prove." The facts which can reasonably ground a suspicion may be
quite insufficient reasonably to ground a belief, yet some factual basis for the suspicion
must be shown. [n Queensiand Bacor Pry Ltd v Rees (1966) 115 CLR 266, a question
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was raised as to whether a payee had reason to suspect that the payer, a debtor, 'was
unable to pay [its) debts as they became due' as that phrase was used in s 95(4) of the
Bankruptcy Act 1924 (Cth). Kitto J said (at 303):

‘A suspicion that something exists is more than a mere idle wondering
whether it exists or not; it is a positive feeling of actual apprehension or
mistrust, amounting to "a slight opinion, but without sufficient evidence”,
as Chambers' Dictionary expresses it. Consequently, a reason to suspect
that a fact exists is more than a reason to consider or look into the
possibility of its existence. The notion which "reason to suspect" expresses
in sub-s (4) is, I think, of something which in all the circumstances would
create in the mind of a reasonable person in the position of the payee an
actual apprehension or fear that the situation of the payer is in actual fact
that which the sub-section describes - a mistrust of the payer's ability to pay
his debts as they become due and of the effect which acceptance of the
payment would have as between the payee and the other creditors.’

The objective circumstances sufficient to show a reason to believe something need to
point more clearly to the subject matter of the belief, but that is not to say that the
objective circumstances must establish on the balance of probabilities that the subject
matter in fact occurred or exists: the assent of belief is given on more slender evidence
than proof. Belief is an inclination of the mind towards assenting to, rather than
rejecting, a proposition and the grounds which can reasonably induce that inclination of
the mind may, depending on the circwmstances, leave something to surmise or
conjecture.”

20. Here, the court was pointing out the difference between, on the one hand, reasonable grounds to
suspect, and on the other, reasonable grounds to believe. Mr McGowan's argument was that the
Judge had found evidence supporting grounds for suspicion falling short of reasonable grounds to
believe. There are two things which can be said about Mr McGowan's assumption that the Judge's
phraseology in the passage which reads: ".... the words of the section are aimed at condemning the
man who reasonably foresees that he may be dealing in the proceeds of an indictable offence ....",
revealed that suspicion, in the Judge's mind, was enough.

21. Firstly, grounds can exist to support a reasonable belief that X has happened even though X has
not in fact happened. In such a situation the person who has reasonable grounds to believe that, for
example, goods are stolen but who does not know that they are, may well say to himself: [ believe
that I may well be dealing in goods that have been stolen, as there are good grounds for such a belief.
I cannot say that I believe [ am in fact dealing in stolen goods, as there are other possibilities. Yet the
grounds for believing they are stolen are present.” The use of the word ‘may’ in such a context is not
inconsistent with the correct test.

22. Secondly, the criticized passage in the Reasons for Verdict must be taken in its full and proper
context. We see that the Judge has correctly stated the question, namely whether there were
reasonable grounds to believe. He went on correctly to specify the two questions to be asked, namely
whether, objectively, reasonable grounds existed for the belief and, if so, whether subjectively the
defendant was aware of the existence of those reasonable grounds. When addressing the first of these
two questions the Judge concluded that a reasonable man would conclude, after only a little thought,
that there were several inferences which could be drawn for which there was a reasonable factual
basis. As such, the Judge was merely, again rightly in our view, saying that for each inference drawn
there was a reasonable ground. It is not without importance that the Judge never used a phrase which
implied that the applicant had grounds for mere suspicion and we can see no justification in Mr
McGowan's concern that this is what the Judge was really saying.
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23. The next question is whether the evidence supported the finding that there was a reasonable
ground to believe, rather than, as Mr McGowan contended, to suspect that the $500,000 represented
the proceeds of an indictable offence. What we have in this case is the handing over of a very large
sum in cash. According 1o the applicant's statement to the police, no explanation was given to him as
to the provenance of this sum or why it was that D1 was asking him to hold onto the money
temporarily. If this was correct, then either the applicant asked no questions when questions would in
innocent circurnstances be asked, or if he did ask, D1 declined to answer when in innocent
circumstances an answer would be given. It is also apparent from the Judge's Reasons for Verdict
that within two days of the delivery of this cash to the applicant, he handed over half of it ($250,000)
to the wife of D2. Applying common sense to these facts, the finding that, objectively, there were
reasonable grounds for a belief that these funds were tainted by crmminality of some significance
cannot in our judgment be criticized, nor the finding that the applicant was aware of those grounds.

24. Plainly, if the applicant had been the custodian of this money in innocent circumstances or felt
the need to transfer some of the cash to D2, he would have been able to provide the reasons, but none
emerged at the trial. The Judge was, in such circumstances, as the court said in. Li Defan and Anor v
HKSAR [2002] 1 HKLRD 527, at 540:

"perfectly entitled to regard the failure of the accused to give any explanation on oath as
strengthening the inference to be drawn from the prosecution case.”

In fact, as the passage cited from the Reasons for Verdict shows, the Judge feit able to draw an
inference which was adverse to the applicant without using his failure to give evidence to add
strength to the inference he had drawn.

25. Applying common sense to the facts of this case, the Judge's findings were not open to valid
criticism.

26. The application is dismissed.

(M. Stuart-Moore) (Simon Mayo) (Frank Stock)
Vice-President Vice-President Justice of Appeal
Representation:

Mr Robert 8.K. Lee, SADPP, and Mr Kelvin Lee, GC, of the Department of Justice, for the
Respondent.

Mr James H.M. McGowan, assigned by the Legal Aid Department, for the Applicant.
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